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The Unpublished First Section of the Pike .Papers
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.We were given heavily ‘... The authority invoked by ‘Classificd information pre-
“sanitized” pieces of paper, the Secretary of State was sents a classic paradox:
“Sanitized” was merely a neither “classification,” nor without it, government some-
cuphemism for blank sheets- “cxccutive privilege,” but a times cannot function; with
of paper ... new doctrine that can best be it, government sometimes
Page 61 characterized as “secretarial cannot function.’
privilege”. .. Page 66
Page 62
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.The cut-oft from informa- ) ‘On Scptember 24, 1975 .
Li(m struck at the heart of @ %ﬁ EP%.E lﬁg Egﬂ‘gggﬁ ' the ch)uty Secretary of Stz\te
Commnittee operations. One ‘Overuse of classification is raised for the first time an
month out of our five-month incvitable when . . . some innuendo that the
iavestigative period was fost 15,466 persons can ) Committee’s action
while the issue was : classify information.’ resembled McCarthyism.’
negotiated . . " Page 68 ’ Page 63
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If this Committec’s recent experience is any tust, in-
telligence agencies that arc to be controlled by Con-
gressional lawmaking are, today, beyond the law-
maker’s serutiny.

These secret agencies have interests that inherently
conflict with the open. accountability of a political
body, and there are many tools and tactics to block
and . deceive  conventional  Congressional -checks.
Added to this are the unique attributes of intelligence
-—notably, “national security,”! in its cloak of secrecy
and mystery—to intimidate Congress and erode [ragile
support for sensitive inquities.

Wise and effective legislation cannot. proceed in the
absence of information respeeting conditions 1o be af-
fected or changed? Nevertleless, under preseat cit-
cumstiances, inquiry into intelligence activilies faces
serious and fundamental shorlcomings.

Even Hmited success in exercising future oversight
requires a rethinking of the powers, pracedures, and
dutics of the overseers. This Committes’s path and
policies, its pluses and minuses, may at least indicate
wiliere to begin.

Access to
Information

The key to excreising oversight is knowledge. Tn the
case of intelligence agencies, this translates into a need
for access to information often held by the agencics
themselves, about events in distant places.

it is an uncertain approach Lo gathering facts, given
the best of circumstances. The best of circumstances
thereby become a minimum condition.

The Selcet Committee’s most importaut work may
well have been its test of those circumstances, testing
perhaps for the first time what happens when Con-
gress unilaterally decides what it wants to know and
how it wants to know -it. .

There were numerous. public expressions by intelli-
gences agencics and the Executive that full coopera-
tion would-be accorded. The credibility of such as-
surances was important, since almost all the necessary
materials were classificd and controlled by the execu-
tive branch. Despite these public representations, in
practice most document_access was preeeded by
lengthy negotiations. Almast without exception, thesc
negotiations yielded something less than complete or
timely access.4

In shott, the words were always words of coopera-
tion; the reality was delay, refusal, missing informa-
tion, asscrted privileges, and on and onS

The Committez began by asserting that Congress
alone must decide who, acting in its behalf, has a
right to know secret information, This Jed to a rejec-
tion of Lxecutive “clearances™ or the “compartmenta-
tion”7 of our staff. The Committee refused, as a mat-
ter of policy, to sign agreements; 1t refused to allow
intelligence officials to read and review our investiga-
tors” notes, and avoided canned bricfings in favor of
primary source material. The Commitice maintained
that Congress has a right to all information short of
direet communications with the President.

Qur ability to abide by these policics has been a
mixed record.

On the plus side, an aggressive pursuit of facts and
a willingness to back up this pursuit with subpocnas
produced some unprecedented results. As an example,
never before had either the Exceutive or Congress put
together a ten-year review -of covert action projects.
By subpoena—which, unfortunatcly, had to be taken
to the brink of contempt enforcement—ihe stafl of the
Commitiee analyzed alt official covert action approv:

als since 1965, and refiorted its results 1o the Comunuit- .

tee in a closed bearing.? That presentation was one of
the more interesting and accurate pictuess of U8,
covert policies yet assembled, and was of no small
value to our findings. Other examples appear through-
out the remainder of this report.

Nonctheless, il that is the positive side, it was off-
sct by the extraordinary efforts that were required,
even in a climate {ovorable to reviewing past Exceu-

tive conduct, 1o ideutify and obtain documents.

It is a commentary in iwelf that subpoenas were
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EDITOR'S NOTE

Last week, The Village Voice printed almost
inTull the test of the second of three sections of
the report on U.S. seeret agencies, dated January
19, 1976, prepared by the Iouse Select Come
mittez on Intelligence, chaired by Congressman
Otis Pike of New York. That sccond section
contains the investigative record of the Com-
mittee, As noted in our introduction, we could
not publish the third-section of the report—a
section on recommendations-~bacause the Com-
mittee had not written it. And we did not choose
to publish the first section because it dealt not
with the Commiittee’s findings but rather with its
frustrations as an investigative unit.

Herewith we are publishing the text of that
first section because of the perspective it provides
for understanding the rcaction of Secretary of
State Henry Kissinger, the White House, the
secret agencies, and the Pike Committee itself
to publication of the report and to the fact that
it appcared exclusively in the Voice. By far, the
greatest outrage has been expressed not toward
those whose mismanagement, cynicism, and
downright lawlessness have made a scandal and
a disaster of our intelligence operations, but
toward those in the Congress and the media who
uncovered and reported the facts. The first sec-
tion of the Pike Papers helps cxplain this in-
verted response. It tells of repeated efforts by,
above all, Mr. Kissinger and by the White House,
the CIA, Senator Tienry Jackson, and others to
contain, obstruct, delay, and if possible derail
the Select Committee's investigation. It also tells
some of the effects of these efforts.

In the end, the obstlructionists did not succeed.
But the turmoil itsell and piccemeal leaks tend
to focus atiention on the clash of interests rather
than the substance of the Committee’s findings
and still threaten to dilutegits cumulative impact. .

In the following text, space limitalions require
us to delete sowne non-substantive references from
the footnotes. Therelore, footnotes arc not num-
bered conseeutively; but the numbering follows
the report’s throughout.

It is a further commentary that much of the time
subpoenas were not cnough, and only a determined
threat of contempt proceedings brought grudging
results.

Footnotes:

It is interesting to note that, despite volumes of
literature, public utterance, and court cuses on the
subject, there are no clear definitions of what national
security is. F.q., Notc 87 Harv. L. Rev. 976 (1974);
Becker, The Supreme Court’s Recent “National Se-
curity” Decisions: Which Interests Are Being Pro-
tected? 40 Tenn. L. Rev. 1 (1972).

2|ustice Van Devanter, speaking for a unanimous.

Supreme Court, wrate that the Congressional “power
of inquiry—with process to enforce it——is essential
and appropriate as an auxiliary to the legislative func-
tion.” MeGrain v. Daugherty (1972),

Early in the history of our republic, the power was
accompanied by *instructions to inquire into the con-
dition of the various exccutive departments, and the
ability and integrity with which they have been con-
ducted.” 13 Cong. Deb. 1057, 1067, (1836).

*In a letter to the Chairman dated October 14,
1975, Sccrctary of State Kissinger stated: "1 have no
desire to keep anything from the Sclect Committee
with regard to the Cyprus crisis or any other subject.”
Letter to Chairman Pike, from Dr., Kissinger, State
Dept., Oct, 14, 1975,

In a sccond letter to the Chairman, duted Noyvems
ber 3, 1975, Dr. Kissinger ugain pledged his coopera-
tion: “lLet me reiterate that my intention is not to
withhold any information of use to the Committee . ..
{ remain as determined as ever to do everything possi-
ble to assist the Committee in ifs difficult and impor-
tant task.” Letter to Chairman Pike, from Dr. Kis-
singer, State Dept., Nov, 3, 1975,

At a news conference on. fune 10, 1975, Bresident

Ford stated: “I will make available to the Senate and
House Select Committees these [Rockefeller Commis-
sion} materials, together with other related materials
in the cxccutive branch.” He went on to say: “So
there’s not going lo be any possibility of any cover-up
because we're giving them the material that the Rock-
cfcller Commission developed in their hearings, plus
any other material that is available in the executive
branch.” (Emphasis added.) President’s News Con-
ference, Wash. D.C., June 10, 1975.

4The following statement by the Chairman, an No-
vember 14, 1975, with reference to a subpoena of
State Department documents, is typical:

“Chairman PIKE. That troubles me, Mr. McClory.
The fact is that three days after the subpocna was
due, we have nothing. You have had phone calls, Mr.
Douner and Mr. Field have had phone calls. The
President has not asscrted exceutive privilege,. but he
hasn’t done it.”

The Committee also discovered what Chairnfan
Pike described as the “dribble treatment,” whete ope
or two documents were delivered each day aver the
course of several weeks. This was a particularly subtlc
impediment, as it gave the cxecutive branch an op-
portunity to deny that it was withholding information,
while at the same time delaying the Commitlee’s
wark.

In the domestic intelligence investigation, Drug En-
forcement Administration documents, which had been
requested {or over three months, were opened for
Committee “inspection” 48 hours hefore a hearing on
DEA intelligence. Even then, a subpoena had been
necessary to obtain information. The stafl was not
given access to the 17 so-called Kissinger wirctap ma-
terials until 24 hours before Dr. Kissinger appearcd
before the Committee; and that took place only after
lengthy negotiations. (Justice Department memoranda
relating to the 17 wiretaps are printed as pp. 1X of
the Conun. Hearings, Part 3.)

5The Chaitman’s comments on September 29, 1975,
in a discussion of proposed agreements with the Fx-
ecutive, illustrate the point:

“Chairman PIKE. . . . You thought we had an
agrecment with the President two weeks ago—or a
week and a half ago—and we adopted your proposals
in order to get that agreement,

“Having adopted your proposals, they said, ‘Weli,
thal is the first bite, now we will come back for some
more.” They have now come back for some wiore.

“You want us to adopt these proposals. You keep
sceing huge cooperation just around the corner and it
is not there, and it has not been there.”

Al a Committee meeting carly in September, the
Chairman described the Commitiee’s experience thus
far with exccutive branch cooperation:

“Here is what we run into . . . Nothing is ever re-
fused——things just are not delivered. They very care-
fully do not refuse, but the language is always the lan-
guage of cooperation—the fact is the fact of non-pro-
duction, ., .” N

A maonth later, the degree of cooperation had not
noticeably improved. As the Chairman stated: )

“1 think we all know what is going on here. You
asked that we wait another week—and we can wait
for another weck. You say that we ought 1o be con-
cerned with the official statements and, as I have in-
dicated from the day [ got on the Commitiee, the ofli-
cial statements always promise cooperation. Therc has
never been an official statement which says, ‘In no
way are you going o get this information.” But the
fact of the matler is that we don't get the informa-
tion."”

6The Committee did accept. the assistance of the
FBI in conducting background investigations -of its
stafl prior to hiring. All decisions, howsver, concern-
ing the members of the Committee’s staff and their
work were made by the Committce. :

The Dirccior of Central Intelligence requested that
the Commitice require its staft to sign seercey oaths
comparable to those which the CIA requires of its
own employecs. The Commitice refused. However,

each member of the staff was obliged by the Commit--

tee to sign an “Employee Agreement.”
TCompartmentation” system employed by the

intelligence agencies to restrict the distribution of in-

formation_cven pmong officials with , seewrity clegr-
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ances. The justification fur compartmentation .is de-
scribed in the following excerpts from a letter to the
Chairman from CLA Director Colby, on Tuly 28, 1975:

“National . Seeurity. Councit Intelligence Directive
No. [.(17 Feb. 1972) instraets the Director of Central
Inetigence to ", . develop and review sceurity stand-
ards and practices as they relate o the protection of
intelligence and of intelligence sources and methods
from unauthorized disclosure.” Since the National Se:
curity Act did not provide for an authorily corre-
sponding with the DCUs responsibility in this arca,
the Directive provides that the Members of the U.S.
Intelligence Board are responsible for: "The super-
vision of the dissemination of security intelligence ma-
terial.’ The Director of Central Iniclligence. acting
with the advice of the US. futelligence Board, has
promulpated a number of dircctives, regulations, and
security manuals, related to the protection of foreign
intelligence and for r intelligence sources and meth-
ads.” Letter (0 Chairman Pike, from Mr. Colby, CIA,
July 28, 1975.

9This report resulied from a subpocenia of dacuments
in possession of the “Torty Committee,” which is a
National Security Council subcommittes that approves
covert action, :

On November 14, by a vote of 10 to 2, the Com-
inittee approved a resolution citing Dr. Kissinger in
contempt of Congress for. his failure to comply with
the Forty Committee subpocna. The report accom-
panying the resolution (94-693)- was filed December
8. On December 10, afier negotiations with White
House officials, the Chairman informed the Fouse
that substantial compliance had been obtained, and
the Comrmittee’s report was recommitted.

1. Delay

The record of subpoenas is worth reviewing.

It hegan on- August 5, 1975, when an Assistant
Secretary of Defense was asked Lo appear as a witness
and bring with hira the document by which the Na-
tional Security Agency (NSA) was set up. It was a
simple and logical request. The Defense Department
controls NSA; the Comittee was holding hearings
on intelligence budgets; NSA has the biggest budget;
-and the Committec wanted to sec the authority by
which NSA operates.

The oflicial did not bring the document. He did not
have “clearance” to.10

For this elementaty piece of information, the Sclect
Committee was forced to resort to the first of its
many subpoenas. It is worth noting that the sub-
pocna was promptly honored, which raises the ques-
tion why the document was not delivered in the first
place.

By late August, the Committce was preparing for
hearings 1o review what kind of intelligence our mon-
¢y buys. Four events were chosen for hearings: the
1973 Mid-East war, the 1974 Cyprus coup, the 1974
Portuguese coup, and the 1968 Tet offensive in- Viet-
nam. During August and carly September there were
repeated requests for documents and intervicws.13

In some cases, we were given heavily “sanitized”
picces of paper. “Sanitized” was merely a cuphemism
for blank sheets of paper with a few scattered words
left'in, often illegible, sometimes misleading, and usu-
ally inconclusive.! In some cases, notably as to the
1974 coup in Portugal. there was an absolute refusal
to provide anything, until early October.

As a last ditch effort, with hearings approaching, the
Committee turned once again to its subpoena power.
On September 10, 1975, it subpoenacd materials from
the three major intelligence agencies and the National
Security Council.15

What were the materials that forced the Committee
to resort to the force of law? Were they the names of
agents? No. Were they descriptions of secret ‘intelli-
gence techniques? No, They were, simply, copies of
intelligence publications that had been circulated. in
the exccutive branch during the week preceeding the
events that we. were examining,!s documents circu-
lated Titerally to hundreds, if not thousands, of people.

Were they turncd over by the date specified in the
subpoena? Not completely,

The threc intelligence agencics supplied some of
their publications.'? Dr, Kissinger, as Assistant to the
President for National Security Aflairs, refused to
turn over a single piece of paper from reports pro-
vided to the National Security Council duving the
weeks in question:t8

By the time hearings on intelligence: results began
in mid-September, only two agencics had substantially
complicd with our subpocnas.!® More than a month
would pass before a good faith effort at compliance
" was forthcoming from {he Nafional Sceurity Council.

Footnotes:

On Auvgust 5, 1975, the Committee received
testimony from Dr, Albert C. Hall, Assistant Secre-
tary. of Defense (Inteliigence):

“Chairman PIKE. Well, Dr, Hall, we did make a
formal request that you bring this picce of paper
creating the National Sccurity Agency with you amd
you tell us that you want us to have everything we
need bul you didn’t bring it. Why?

“Dr. Hall. We have to get clearance for releasing
this matcrial to you, sir,

“Chairman PIKE. IHere we are representing  the
legislative branch of Government, asked to appropri-
ate hundreds of millions of dollars 10 a certain agency
and se are having difficulty finding the statutory au-
thority for that agency cven to exist. Now, isn't that
ridiculous?"

BLelters were sent to CIA on Aug. 18, 1975
Aug. 19, 1975; Aug. 27, 1975; and Sept. 5, 1975,
State Dcpartment requests were sent on Aug. 19,
1975; Sept. 8, 1975; and again on Scpt. 8, 1975, Re-
quests were forwarded to the Defeunse Department. on
Aug. 15, 19751 Aug. 19, 1975; Scpt. 8, 1975; again on
Sept. 8, 1975; and Scpt. 9, 1975,

YThe last two pages of onc sct of documents were
typical deletions. The first page was apparently a
cable. It was blank, except for the following across
the top: 3/ND/DOLL-VNM/T-0144-65G TRANS.
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House Select Committce Chairman Otis Pike: IHe got
the “dribblc treatment”~one or two documents a day.

LATED DECRYPT VNJAC/VN NR t Y 3013006
FM 1IB TO CQ INFO BBM STOP CNMB 30119
3610M Tol: 30TA68/1012Z 300"

The second page of the cable was cven less infor-
mative. It was completely blank, excepl for a “Top
Secret” Stamp.

15The subpoenas were dirccted to the National
Security Agency, the Defense Intelligence Agency,
the Director of Central Intelligence, and the National
Sceurity Council.

16The subpoena to the Defense Intelligence Agen:
cy on the subject of the Mid-East war illustrates the
types of documents called for:

1. For the period of Seplember 25, 1973, through
October 6, 1973, on a daily basis, or as [requently as
same were issucd, the original documents as follows:
all Defense Intelligence Agency estimates. Current
Delense Intelligence Summaries, situation Reports,
and any and all cables emanating from the Defense
Attache Office in Tel Aviv, National Military Intelli-
gence Center daily briefings. . . ,”

A stafl summary, prepared on September 12,
1975, indicated the following non-compliance:

“DIA Ttems Not Furnished—Cyprus and Mid-East
War

)

. DIA Intelligence Summarics for July 14.
. DIA Tntelligence Bulletin for July 13, Tuly 14,
and July 20.
c. DIA. Daily Current Intelligence Bricfings for
Tuly 13, July 14, and July 20.
d. DEA Daily Intetligence Bulletins for September
29, September 30, October 6.
e. DIA Inlelligence Summary for Scplember 30.
“NSA Tftems Not Furnished—Cyprus
a. SIGSUM’s for July 13, Tuly 14, July 19, July 20.
b. “Wrap-up messages™ for July 13, July 14, July
15, July 16, July 17."
WThe Scptember 12, 1975, compliance sununary
for NSC reads as Tollows: o i

o

War
a. Nothing was furnished, unless NSC maintains
that CTA and DCI documents transmitted Lo
ISC via NSC are ‘reports provided NSC by
U8, agencies.”
b. Nothing furnished.”

19These were the National Security Agency and
the CIA.

2. Cut~off

This problem was soon dwarfed by a new tactic—
the cut-off. .

On Scptember 12, 1975, the President, or somcone
using his name, cut off the Committee [rom all classi-
fied information. As if that were not cnough, his ac-
tion was accompanied by a demand that we immedi-
ately turn over all classified materials {rom our own
internal files.2!

The reason? The Congress, through this Committee,
had passed judgment, after lengthy deliberation of
the merits, on whether four words “classified” by the
Exccutive branch could be told to the American peo-
ple.2 .

The Exccutive, by its legally questionable reaction,2?
had vow sct aside any immediate subpoena problems,
and the public hearing problems as well,

As background, a hearing on Scptember 11, 1975,
had reviewed intelligence performance  with respect
to the Mid-East war in 1973, The result was shocking.
In the words of a CIA document, “the principle con-
clusions concerning the imminence of Thostilities
reached and reiterated by those responsible for in-
telligence analysis were-—quite simply, obviously, and
starkly-—-wrong.” 21

That same document had verbatim quotcs from two
intelligence bulletins that were moderately favorable
and from five bullelins demonstrating that intelligence
estimates were embarrassingly wrong, The two favor-
able quotes werc declassified and rcad into the ree-
ord.» The five embarrassing quotes, containing the
same type of information, werc not declassified by
CIA.

The Committee objected. 26

The CIA returncd that afterrioon to rcport that,
after all, the five quotes could be declassified.2? How-
ever, in an apparent need not to appear arbitrary in
their earlier decision, they insisted that some 13 words
still remain classified.

The Committee debated those 13 words for over
four hours in a closed session. The CIA Special
Counsel was present and in telephone contact with
CIA Director Colby: the head of the State Depart-
ment’s Intelligence and Research was there; the head
of the Defense Intelligence Agency was there; and a
high official of" the National Security Agency was
there. No agency was without representation, and all
had a chance to speak. Nine words were mutually
agreed to remain classified 28 but four words were not.

The four remaining words could not reveal any
secret “sources and methods,” which is the basis of
official classifications,® because the information they
containcd could have come from any number of
sources. In addition, the intelligence was so old by
the time it was reported that it could not reveal how
rapidly our intelligence techniques operatcd30 The
Commiittee satisfied- itself on these and other points
before taking somc half dozen rollcall votes on the
matter.

It is possible thal never before had so much ex-
pertise and thought gone into a declassification de-
cision. For this, the Committee was accused of being
irresponsible.3! To proteet nativnal sccurity, the
“President” invoked a cut-off, perhaps before the
President ever heard of what was going on.

The Committcee later Jearned that in a biography of
Dr. Kissinger a year earlier, the subject to which the
four words referred had been spelled out in great de-
tail. So much for the validity of the classification
argument. No “high State Department official” had
been cut off from information or forced to turn over
his files as a result of that carlicr publication. So
much for protecting against irresponsibility,

Police guarding Committee offices were instructed
to prevent any takeover of files by the Exccutive, and
nothing more was heard of that. .

Nevertheless, the cut-off from information struck
ac the heart of Committec operations. One month out
of our five-month investigative period was lost while
the issue was ncgotiated. With little choice, the Com-
mittee agreed that for purposes of getting the investi-
gation under way again, future disputes would be re-
ferred to the President.3 This was agreed (o on the
assurance of the President that the Comimittee would
have no further problem with access to information.3s

It is perhaps significint that the day the Cuammittee
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was cut off was also the duy hearings were scheduled
on the 1974 Cyprus coup. Hearings were to be focused
on the State Department’s handling of iniclligence,
and- of Dr. Kissinger's role therein Thase lear
ings hu to bz cuncelled. However, the Committee
Jocuted a State Department witness who was to testi-
Iy aboit Cyprus, even in the absénce of classilied evi-
dence from the Exccutive—his name was Thomas
BRoyatt.

Thomas Boyatt was the State Department officer in
charge of the Cyprus desk during the period in ques-
tion. The Comnittee was interested in what kind of
intelligence had been supplied to Boyatt regarding the
1974 coup against Archibishop Makarios and the con-
sequent Turkish invasion.

More important, the Committce wanted to cxamine
how that intelligence-as well as Mr. Boyatt’s analysis
of it, was handicd by the decisionmakers at State. Mr.
Boyatt had, in fact, advised one of our staff members
that he vigorously criticized the handling of intelli-
gence at the time of the Cyprus crisis. This criticism
was cmbodied in a written report which was sent
through the Stat¢ Department's “dissent channels.”?

[Page 25 of the Draft Final Report not available—
editor’s note.}

Footnotes:

21Rex E. Low, Assistant Attorney General, Civil
Division, delivered the order:

“. .. [Tihe President’s responsibities for the na-
tional security and foreign relations of the United
States leave him no alternative but to request the
immediate return of all classified materials heretofore
provided by any department or agency of the execu-
tive Branch and dircct all departments to decline to
provide the Select Commiltee with classified materi-
als, including testimony and interviews which disclose
such materials, until the Committee satisfactorily al-
ters its position.”

2When Mr, Rex Lee appeared before the Commit-
tee to announee the, President’s cut-off of information
it became evident that the executive branch had not
given the matter equally careful consideration.

‘Chairman PIKE. Mr. Lee, you say it revealed
certain foreign communications activities of the
United States. Is that your language?

“Mr. Lee, That is what I am advised, Mr. Chairman.

“Chairman PIKE. Did you look at the language of
what the Comunittee releascd?

“Mr. LEE. 1 did not.

“Chairman PIKE. You are sitling here making a
statement, saying that we have released language. re-
lating to the communications activities' of the 1.8,
Government, and you did not even look at the lan-
guage we released.”

23In his appearance before the Committee, the
Assistant Attorney General asserted that the dispo-
sition of security information is solely within the pre-
rogative of the executive branch:

“Chairman. PIKE. You say thc legislative branch
of Government had no right whatsoever to make any-
thing public that the executive branch of Government
docs not want public. Is that your position?

“Mr. LEE, That is our position as far as classified
information is concerned.

“Chairman PIKE. So what you say is that in this
great democracy, one branch of Governuient, and one
branch . . . alone may decide what-is sccret, and one
branch of Goveinment . . . alone may decide what
is not secret.”

In support of his position, Mr. Lee did not assert
that the Congress or the Committec was bound, as a
matfer of law, by Exceutive Order 11652, which
established the current classification system, nor did
he offer any contracy interpretation of Scction 6(a) of
H. Res, 591, which explicitly authorized the Com-
mittee to release such information as it deemed advis-
able.

24This quotation is taken from the summary con-
clusion of a post-mortem prepared by the intelligence
community itself. The principle conclusions of the
post-mortem began as follows:

“1, There wes.an intelligence failure in the weeks
preceding the outbreak of war in the Middle East on
Octohér 6. These clements of the intelligence com-
munity responsible for the production of finished in-
telligence did not perceive the growing possibility
of an Arab attack and thus did not warn of its im-
minence,

“The information provided by those parts ol the

community responsible for intelligence collection was
sufficient to prompt. such a warning.” The Perform-
ance of the intelligence Community Before the Arab-
Isracli War of October 1973: A Preliminary Post-
Mortem Report, Dircetor of Central Intciligence
December 1973).

25The two verbatim quotes which were voluntarily
declassified by the CIA were:

“We continue to believe that un outbreak of major
Arab-fsracli hostilitics remains unlikely for the im-
mediate future although the risk of localized fighting
has increased slightly. . . . 4 October 1973 (erphasis
in original).

“There are reports that Syria is prepaviog Tor ai
attack on Isracl -but conclusive evidence is lacking.
In our view, the political climate in the Arab states
argues against a major Syrian niilitary move against
Israel at this lime. The possibility of a more limited
Syrian strike—perhaps one designed to retaliate for
the pounding the Syrian Air Force fook from the Is-
raclis on September -13-—cannot, of course, be ex-
cluded.” TNR Memorandum to the Secretary, 30 Sep-
tember 1973 (emiphasis in original).

26The first of five quotes, which was later relcased,
is as follows:

“Syria-Egypt-—The movement of Syrian troops and
Egyptian military readinuss are considered to be coin-
cidentul-and not designed to lead to major hostilitics.”
DIA Intelligence Summary, 3 October 1973,

“The text was the subject of an extensive discussion
among the Chairman and representatives of the ClA:

“Chairman PIKE. Mr, Parmenter, before we go into
questioning, would you tell me why you have omitted
from your sanitized statewment here the actual pre-
dictions, as contained in the report from which you
read, i. €., the DIA Intclfigence Surymary Statement
of 3 Qctober 19737 1 want you to look at what the
original report says and (el me why we should not,
licre in open session, hear what the DIA actually said
on October 3, 1973,

“Mr. PARMENTER. There are sources and meth-
ods herc that we will be happy to discuss in execu-
tive session. ' .

“Chairman PIKE. Sources and methods in that
statement?

“Mr. PARMENTER. Yes, sir. -

“Chairman PIKE. 1 find that incredible. How does
that differ from the one you rcad on the preceding
page (INR Memorandum to the Sccretary) as far as
sources and metliods are concerned? . . . All I am
asking you is, could you tell us why the reading of
this plain, blank conclusion by the DIA as to the like-
tihood of the outbreak of war, would teveal a source
or a method?

Mr. ROGOVIN. I will assume that the reason for
the deletion was the manner in which the informa-
tion was secured—

“Chairman PIKE. It doesn't say how the informa-
tion is securcd. This is a conclusion.

“Chairman PIKE. Mr. Rogovin, I find, as [ look at
what has been deleted and what has been omitled
and what has been retained and read,-differs not as
to sources and methods, not as to the necessity of
protecting the sensitivity of stuff, but whether it is
in fact rather sclf-serving. . .." Sept. 11, 1975.

27Al} five quotes are reprinted in the Mid-East War
Post-Mortem in an appendix to this rcport, The first
two quotes arc typical:

“Syria-Egypt—The movement of Syrian troops and
Egyplian military readiness are considered to be co-
incidental and not designed to lead to major hostili-
ties.” DIA Intelligence Summaty, 3 October 1973,

“Egypt—The exercisc and alert activitics in Egypt
may be on a somewhat larger scale and more realistic
than previous excrcises, but they do not appear to be
preparing for a military offensive against Isracl. Cen-
tral Intelligence Bulletin, 5 October 1973.” Post-
Mortem, DCI, 6 (December 1975).

20f the nine words which Lhe Committcc agreed
not to release, fow of them would have revealed,
directly, any sensitive intelligence: sources or methods.
Instead, in most cases, they constituled personal
characterizations, the publication of which might
have becn embarrassing to the United States or to
individual foreign officials.

294Sec. 7, In the interests of the security of the
foreign intelligence activities of the United States and
in order further to implcment the proviso of scction
102¢d) (3) of the National Sccurity Act of 1947
(Public Law 253, Eightieth Congress, first session)
that the Director of Central Intelligence shall be re-
sponsible for protecting intelligence sources and meth-
ods from unauthorized disclosure , . " 50 US.C.
§ 403 (1973).

301n the closed session, Mr, Rogovin, Special Coun-
sel to the CIA, stated: . .. [The cxperts feel very
contident (his is the bottom line that.can be made
public. These are references to real time reporting.
... Comm. Exces. Sess.. Sept. 11, 1975., ..

3Mr. Lee referred to what he characterized as the
traditional procedures by which the Congress has re-
ceived and treated classificd information. a characteri-
zation which elicited the following colloquy:

“Chairman PIKE. 1f it is your position that we
may never disclose information, how can we catry out
our responsibilitics? o

“Me, L The same ]wu)"l, 'M:n!(‘ irman, that for

decades other committees in Congress. .+ . .
“Chairman PIKE. That is exactly what is wrong,

Mr. Lee, For decades other committees of Congress
have not done their job, and you have loved it in
the executive branch. You tell us that Congress has
been advised of this, What does that mean? It means
the exceusive branch comies up and whispers in one
friendly Congressman’s ear or another friendly Con-
gressman’s car, and that is exactly whar you want to
continue. and that is exactly what 1 think has led us
into the mess we are in.”

3Text of letter from Mr. William Colby, Dircetor
of Central Intelligence, to the Chairman, dated Sep-
tember 30, 1975:

“With the approval of the President, I am forward- |

ing herewith the classified material, additional to the
unclassified material forwarded with my letter of 29
September 1975, which is responsive to your subpocna
of September 12, 1975, This'is forwarded on loan with
the understanding that there will be no public dis-
closurc of this classificd material (nor of testimony,
depositions or interviews concerning it) without a
reasonable opportunity for us to consuli with respect
10 it. In the event of disagreement, the matter will be
relerred to the President. 1f the President then certi-
fics in writing that the disclosurc of the material would
be detrimental to the national sceurity of the United
States, the matter will not b disclosed by the Com-
mittee, cxcept that the Committe would reserve its
right to submit the matter to judicial determination.”

350n September 26, 1973, Mr, McClory described
the President’s position as lollows:

“We lLave assurance, in my opinion, of getting
everything we need, and 1 would hope we waould find
we were petting cverything we need.”

36Mr.William Hyland, Director of Intelligence and
Rescarch, Department of State, was scheduled to be
the key witness on September 11, 1975, It was unfor-
{unate that the cut-off and later restrictions on testi-
mony from Foreign Service officers, prevented the
Commiltec from a full investigation of the Cyprus
crisis. There is a closely held State Department report
identifying the people who killed the American Am-
bassador, Rodger Davies, during that crisis, and a
public protest has perhaps not beeo raised because
these same murderers are now officials in the Cyprus
government. Questions related to that intelligence re-
port should, and must, be cleared up.

37The 'Dissent Channel,” through which this mem-
orandum was submitted, provides those officers of the
Department of State who disagree with established
policy. or who have new policies to recomnmend, a
means for communicating their vicws to the highest
levels of the Department.” Letter to Chairman Pike
from Dr. Kissinger, Dept. of State, Oct. 14, 1975,

3. Silenced Witnesses

In response, a new tactic was fashioned—the
silenced witness. . ’ —

On September 22, 1975, Mr. Boyatt was ordered
not to tell the Committee “information which would
disclose options considered by or recommended to
more senior officers in the Department.”38 The order
was added on to the existing ban on classified infor-
mation.

That was not the end. Anything Mr. Boyatt did say
would have to be in the presence of State Department
monitors, by order of the Sccretary.

It is worth pointing out that this prohibition ex-
tended to more than Mr, Boyatt's options or advice.
Any information that would disclose those options
was also banned. An attempted interview by the staff,
with monitors, demonstrated that this covered almost
everything the man ever did or said 40

The State Department’s order was issued in spite of
two United States laws which protect and guarantce
the right of a federal employee to provide informa-
tion ta Congress.

One statute says that the right of a federal employee
*“1o-furnish information to either House of Congress,
or to a Committee or Member thereol, may not be
intetfered with or denied.”#! The sccond law, which
directly bears on the Boatt situation, was specifically
designed to encourage candid testimony of cmployees
from federal agencies, including the Bepartment of
State.d? . .

The authority invoked by the Sccrelary of State
was neither “classification,” nor “executive privilege,”
but a new doctrine that can best be characterized as
““secretarial privilege.3

The Sccretary’ of State was demanding special
treatment. Tf this Committee could not have received
testimony from CIA officers or FBL agents about ad
vice or options they preseated to senior officials, it
would have had no choice but to shut down* Over-
sight would be dead. ) o :
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Fortunately, (hc;CfA,' e FBI, and the other intel-
ligence agencies had cither riot heard of “secretarial
privilege.” or did not believe it existed.

On October 2, 1975, the Committee voted to
issu¢ a subpocna for Mr. Boyal’s Cyprus critique.

' Pr. Kissingér responded on October 14, 1973, refer-
ring to the subpocaa as a “request.” 1t was denivd,
even though it was not a request, but & legal - order
to produce a document 38

Time and control are, as we noled at the outsel, in
the hands of those who have possessicn of documents.
Therefore, the Commitiee, more than onc month
after issuing is subpocna. accepted from Mr. Boyatt
no testimony and no document, but something less.
We were given Mr. Boyatt’s memo after it had been
mixed into a number of other paragraphs drafied else
where in the State Department—ostensibly to protect
Mr. Boyatt. It ended up very much like the proverbial
“riddle wrapped in a mystery inside an enigma."”™s7

This time the euphemism was “an amalgam.”#8

Footnotes:

BThis order was cmbodied ih a September 22,
1975, memorandum from - Lawrence S. Eagleburger.
Deputy Underseeretary of State for Management, to
William G. Hyland, the Department’s Director of
Intclligence and Research. This dircetive stated that
“the following conditions will pertain to sworn inter-
views by the Pike Committee stafl:

“The Department of State insists that a State De-
partment representative be present during the infer:
views. Should the intervicwees wish to be represented
by their own legal counsel, the State Department
representative will be in addition to that private legal
counsel.

“The interviewees are to decline, by order of the
President, to discuss classificd material.

“The interviewees are ta decline, by order of the
Sccretary of State, to give information which would
disclose options. considered by or recommended to
more senior officers in the Department of State.”

When Mr. Eagleburger appeared before the Com-
mittee on September 25, he stated that the orders
contained.in his memorandum-of September 22 were
issued at the verbal direction of the Secretary of
Statc.

40This was clearly indicated by the following ex-
change among Mr. Field, on behalf of the Committee,
Mr. Boyatt, and Mr. Hitchcock, the Department’s
monitor:

“MR. FIELD. Mr. Boyatt, would you please de-
scribe for us in detail what was done in the State
Depattment not with respect to classified intelligence
reports or information, but . . . knowledge of any of
these events, who was involved, and what they were
doing? Would you please describe that for us in
some detail?

“MR, BOYATT. I would like to ask Mr. Hitch-
cock’s advice.

“MR. HITCHCOCK. I regret but it appears to me
that this comes to the problem of the description. of
the decision-making process which my instructions
scem to indicate is proscribed.

“MR. FIELD. In other words, it is your position
that who was doing what in the State Department
has something to do with decision-making?

“Mr. HITCHCOCK. Yes.

“MR. FIELD, We can't discuss this activity? We
can’t discuss where he went - to, what he did, who
he told, what that person told him in responsc? We
can't discuss as 1 understand- it, whether or not he
is aware of dny moves made by the Secretary of State
towards Turkey, towards Cyprus, either*preceding or
during this period.”

41The right of employees, individually or. collec-
tively to petition Congress or a Member of Congress,
or to furnish information to either House of Congress,
or to & committce or Member thereof, may not be in-
terfered with or denicd.” 5 U.5.C. § 7102 (1973).

4Upon the request of a committee of cither
House of Cougress, a joint committce of Congress, or
a member of such committée, any officer or employee
of the Department of State, the United States informa-
tion Agency, the Agency for International Develop-
ment, the United Stales Arms Control and Disarma-
ment Agency, or any other department, agency, or
independent establishment of the United States Gov-
ernment primarily concerned with matters relating
to foreign countries or multilateral organizations, may
express his views and opinions, and make fecom-
mendations he considers appropriate, if the request
of the committee or member of the committee relates
to a subject which is within the jurisdiction of that
committce.” 2 U.S.C. § 194a (1973).

43Chairman Pike, questioning Dr. Kissinger in an
open hearing on Oct. 31, 1975, stated, "1 fecl that you
are alleging n privilege which has heretofore been
rescrved only to Presidents.” Dr. Kissinger responded,
“] have deliberately not asked the President to exergise

execttive privilege, nor am 1 asserting a sceretarinl
privilege.” ’ '

44Qne example comes from reports on the Cyprus
crisis: “On the basis of u single CIA report from
Athens, the analysts, nolwithstanding their earlier
coneern, conveyed the impre; 1 ro the policymakers
that the world had been granted a reprieve.” CIA
Post- Mortem on Cyprus, p, iii (Jaruary 1975).

Not only were we told about the report, we were
also told about its impact on policymakers.

46The Committce Counsel, on Nov. 6, 1975, noted
that, “MR. DONNER . .. A subpoena is not an in-
vitation to megotiate. A subpoena is a command by a
duly authorized body of government to deliver infor-
mation.”

4TWinston S, Churchill, radio broadcast.

480n November 4, the Committec, by a vote of 8
to 5. agreed to the following resolution:

“Resolved by the Select Committee on Intelligence
of the House of Representatives that an amalgama-
tion of Department of State documents to include in
its entirety the papers described ay the Dissent Mem-
orandum prepared by Thomas Boyatt while Director
of Cypriot Affairs in the Department, fulfills the re-
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Innuendo of McCarthyism: The late Wisconsin

Senator at & hearing with helpmeet Roy - Cobn.

quirement of the subpoena issucd by the Committee
on the 2nd day of October, 1975.

“provided the amalgamation is accompanied by
an affidavit signed by a person mutually acceptable
to the Department of State and the Committec as
represented by the Chairman and the ranking min-
ority member, attesting that the aforementioned Boy-
att memotandum is contained unabridged in the am-
algamation:

“The. adoption of this resolution shaH in no way
be considered as a precedent aflccting the right of
this Committee with respect to access to Executive
Branch testimony or documents.”

4. Flank Attack

On September 24, 1975, two days after written
instructions to Mr. Boyatt were issued, the Deputy
Sccretary of State raised for the first time an innuendo
that the Committec’s. action resembled- McCarthy-
ism.49 The Committee’s initial reaction was to dismiss
any such inference as a temporary lapse into poor
taste,

Unfortunately, it was not a temporary lapse.

The next day, on Secptember 25, 1975, Dcputy
Seccretary Eagleburger appeared before the Committec
to explain the Boyatt order. His statement again re-
ferred to State Department employces' problems with
Congress -in past times—a clear reference to the
McCarthy period of the 1930's, as his subsequent
testimony ‘made- clear.5® On October 14, 1957, Dr.
Kissinger's written  response o the  subpocna of
Boyatt's intelligence critique again raised a reference
to McCarthyism 5!

The implication was bascless.32 as both Mr. Eagle-
burger and Dr. Kissinger admilted under questioning. 5

Facts seemed o muke no difference. Within days
of the innuendo being raised by Dr. Kissinger and his
reply, newspaper columns and editorials were re-
purting their charges of McCarthyism 54

To the extent that such media activity may have
heen inspired, directly or indirectly, by the State De-

partment, it helped erode support within and outside
- PR B R R T

the Committee for pursuing the plain truth. With that
opinion,. the fiction of an amalgam beeame feasible.

Some day the full story of Cyprus may be told,
but not by this Committee.

TAn Alfack Averted

“If no “fank” attack was launched by the FBI
to discredit the Committee, it may have been because
one ‘was averted hy -the Commitlec.

On Oclober 9, 1975, Mr. Martin Kaiser, 0 manu-
facturer of wirctap, equipment, testified before the
Committee. He indicated that the FBI bought his
cquipment through a middleman, U.S. Recording,
who added a 10 percent markup. There was no justi-
fication for the markup, and it later developed that
the president of U.S. Recording and a top FBI ofticial
were close friends.

The Committec began an investigation of U.8. Re-
cording and its FBI friends. The Justice Department
and FBI later began their own probe of the same
matter,

On December 23, 1975, two and onc-half months
alter Mr. Kaiser testified, he was subjected 1o a six-
hour interview by two FBI agents. The agents were
allegedly carrying out an internal FBI investigation
regarding the agency's contractual dealings with U.S.
Recording Company. .

Mr. Kaiser called the Committce to relay his con-
cern, and offered to give a statement under oath as to
the conduct of the FBI agents. N

In a Committee deposition of December 30, 1975,
Kaiser claimed that the FBI agents were more com-
cerned with discrediting the Committee’s inquiry
and personnel than conducting their investigation of
US. Recording. Ultimately, the agents had elicited
from him a statement, writlen by an FBI agent, which
in some insignificant details recanted portions of his
testimony. Mr. Kaiser then repudiated thai written
statement, which he had signed while agents stood
over him and thrust it in front of him.

Taking the initiative, the Committee, on December
31,1975, released a copy of the written statement, a
full copy of Mr. Kaiser's December 30, 1975, depo-
sition, and the text of a letter to the Attorncy Gen-
eral demanding a full cxplanation of the entire inci-
dent 56 This was done to head off any FBI “leak” of
the statement its agents had taken while Kaiser was
under some duress. -

Footnotes:

49Mr. Faglebutger's - statement, delivered to the
Cormmittee offices on Scptember 24, 1973, read:

“Mr. Chairman, this is far from a hypothetical
issue. To cite but a single example, the Foreign
Service and the Department of State were torn apart
in the late 1940's and early 1950's over an issue that
raised some of tlic same concerns that arc before us
today—the ability of Foreign Scrvice Officers to give
to the Sccrctary and their other superiors their can-
did advice, securc in the knowledge that this advice
will remain confidential. The events of those years
not only injured individuals, but also did significant
damage to the process by which foreign policy is
made. Who can be cerlain how many rccommenda-
tions during the years that followed were colored by
memoties of those experiences?”

S0 must say again, a3 I said in the statement
today, the issue for me right now is an issuc of prin-
ciple. It is the question of our duty to protect junior
and middle-grade officers of the Department in the
conduct of their duties within the Department . . .”

s1“While | know that the Sclect Commitice has
no intention of embarrassing or exploiting junior and
middle-grade officers of the Department, there have
been other times and other committecs—and there
may be again—where positions taken by Foreign
Service Officers were exposed to ex post facto public
examination and recrimination.” Letter to Chairman
Pike from Dr: Kissinger, Oct. 14, 1975.

52The plain facts are that Senator McCarthy de-
stroyed the carcers of State Department ermployecs
on the basis of their beliefs and politics. This Com-
mittce never sought the political views of any federal
employce. Senator McCarthy operated without cvi-
dence. This Committee sought only evidence. Senator
MicCarthy forced people 1o testify. Mr. Boyatt wanted
1o testily, McCarthyism grew out of a lack of char-
acter and intcgrity, and from a climate of hysteria.
Restrictive rules are no answer to such problems.

53“MR. HAYES. [OJne of the things that has
decply offended me . . . has been the implication, the
very clear implication, that your position of protect-
ing middle and lower level Foreign Service officers
is a position of protecting them from McCarthyism...

“SECRETARY KISSINGER. With respect to the
chatge of McCarthyism, | want to make clear that |
do not accuse this committee of engaging in McCarthy-

ism and 1 know indecd- that the Chairman has a

P
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rvecord in this regard, and from the convictions of
many of the members that [ am familiar with, I know
that this is not the intention of this commitwe,”

“MRHAYES | .. [ don't think there has been
one instance that yow-can cite or thit Mr, Leigh can
cite, where this Commitice has ever taken it upon
itself in the tradition of the McCarthys . . . to, in
essence, run a Pllfge upcr:\lion.

“MR. EAGLEBURGER. Mr. Hayes, there is no
implication in my statement that this Committee is
performing in the way | deseribed (he Department
went through in the Iate 0% and carly *50's. That
is not, sir, my point.” Sept. 25, 1975,

#The New York Times editorial of October 19,
1973, was entitled, **Neo-McCarthyism?™

“In view of the facts, the Intelligence Commirtee's
insistence that it has the right to reach into the
interior of the State Bepartment to subpocna the
dissenting memoranda of junior and middle-rank of-
ficials—and to summon them 1o testify on policy
issues~—is clearly comtrary to the national interest. ...

The Washington Post editorial of October 6, 1975,
entitled “Mr. Pike's Committce” had this to say:

“The analogy with McCarthyism evoked by the
State Department is a relevant one, even though it
appears that in this case the commitiee of Congress
wishing to quesiion Mr. Boyatt apparently is inclined
to praisc him for his views, not persecute hime—and
to usc his testimony to fault Secyetary Kissinger.
Certainly Mr. Kissinger should be faulted for his
Cyprus policy, .. .”

3¢One’ of the most disturbing aspects of the inci-
dent—quite aside from the propricty of iiterrogating
a Committee witness about the Committee—was that
the interview was replete with FBI suggestions of pre-
judice on the part of the Committec Counsel. Vigor
was apparently seen as prejudice, and by two agents
who had never met the Committee personnel they
were denigrating,

5. Deletions

In early November, about the same time the Boyatt
problems were being resolyed, the Committee moved
oi from the subjects of money and what our moncy
buys. The third topic of our hearings was risks, and
how well those risks are controlled.

Seven new subpoenas were issued. Four were for
materials pertaining to subjects of prior hearings,
They were honored 57 The remaining three. were di-

-rected to Dr. Kissinger, for materials pertaining to

upcoming hearings. Not surprisingly, those subpoenas
went unanswered. 5

Once again, some background is helpful.

Two of the three subpocnas were for covert
action recommendations made by non-CIA officials,

'since the CIA had already opened up. the covert ucr

tion files to us. The third subpoena was for intelli-
gence records on Soviet compliance with strategic
arms limitation agreement (SALT).

When considering risks, covert actions rank as per-
haps the highest risk opcrations in the government,
short of war. The law allows CIA “to perform such
other functions and duties related to intelligence af-
fecting the National Security as the National Sccurity
Council may from time to time direct.60 This is the
legal authority for covert action. A subcommittee of
the National Sccurity Council, presently called the
Party Commitice, has been assigned the task of di-
recting these actions;

By trucing money, the Committee came across mil-
tions of rounds of ammunition and weapons being
purchased in the carly 1970’s. The purchases were
destined for a questionable military venture in a far
off war that most Americans. had probably never
heard of, much less felt they had any national inter-
est in.

The CIA’s military escapade was bad enough, but,
on examining documents, the Committee discovered
that the Forty Commiittee appeared not to have met or
voted on the operation. In fact, internal documents
showed that CIA and the State Department had
turned the project down three times in the previous
two years. .

It turned out that duving a trip overscas, Presi-
dent Nixon and Dr.Kissinger had met alone with the
head of a forcign government [the Shah of Irain—
editor’s note]. At that man's request, the Administra-
tion had involved CIA in an internal war in the head
of state's neighbering country [the Kurdish rebelfion
in Irag—editor's note]. fohu Conoatly, on the verge
of heading Democrats for Nison,” was sent back (o
the foreign leader, apparently (o bring himi the good
news of final approval. -

A monih fater, afer training for the project had
already begun, Forty Commitice members were sent

a8 memo by Dr. Kissinger informing them, for (¢ first
time, of President Nixon's decision,

In a separate matter, this Committee was told by
former CIA Director Richard FHelms of o decision to
undertake a covert-action project in Chile, Mr. Helms
had been called into the Oval office and told hy Presi-
dent Nison, with Dr. Kissinger and Me. John Mitchell
present, that he was to undertake the project in spite
of CIA reservations, He was also told "not to iuform
the other members of the Forty Committee.”64

A pattern was emerging,

Not all covert actions were generated by the CIA.,
In particular, paramilitary operations of the worst
type seemed to come from outside the CIA. Some
projects came [tom the President. Some projects came
from his- Assistant for National Security Affairs, and
some had their beginning in the Department of
State, ’

Forty Commitice records were subpoenaed to see
if the pattern was valid.6 The subpoena was limited
to the official document by which a covert action was
approved. These records were often no more than
one paragraph long.

What arrived in response to our subpoenas showed

nothing—Dbecause it was mostly deletions,
The deletions came in all shapes and forms. Typ-
ically, there would be one line loft on a page, say-

Pt
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He was “alleging a privilege
heretofore reserved only to presidents,”

ing, “A CIA project was lclcphonicn!ly approved,”
or, “The Committee voted to approve a CIA paper
entitled [title deleted}.” Ofen. if there had becn
numerous items considered at a mecting, the dcletions
themselves had been cut and pasted together. For ex-
ample, item cight might follow item one, giving the
impression that only two items had heen considered
that day.5” Sometimos there would be only one word
left on a pagt‘»—“ChiIe”~nolhing else, anywhere; but
it was still classified top secret. The information,
needless to say, was worthless 6%

. Wholesale dcletions were cncountered in the Com-
miz]tlec’s investigation of domestic covert activities as
well.

COINTELPRO, the FBI'S program for disruption
of the “New Left,” like nearly all FBI actions, was
extremely well documented, The Committee requested
the appropriate documents jn Tuly.% What it re-
ceived were summaries so heavily excised as to be
unusable.

One memorandum, for example, referring only
generically 1o the “New Lefy,” contained the sub-
heading, “Recommended Procedure,” on one page.
and “Results™ on the next. The pages were otherwise
blank. Another docament with the same type generic
reference, “Black Extremist Organization,” was like.
wise excised in its entirety.

The Committee profested. Negotiations followed,70
Finally, in tnid-October, -an agreement was reached
whereby less exeised memos were made available 1o
Committee stafl, at FB} headquarters. The Committee
persisted, sclecting a representalive number of mem-
oranda to be delivered to its own affices. After some
delay, they were delivered, still excised, |

Requests for the documents pertaining to I'BI na-
tional security wiretaps Ied o a similar expericnce,
One set-ol documents was delivered, excised beyond
use. Negotiations took place (or almost a2 month,
Finaily, a second set of documsnts was pravided. but,
apain, withaut identifying lurgets of electranic syr-
veillance.

Footnotes:

$TThe following subpocnas were honored:

1) To the Assistant to the Fresident for National
Security Affairs, for.all minutes of the National Se-
curity Council Tntelligence Commiuce, its Working
Group and its Economic Intelligence Subcommitice;

2) To the Assistant to the President for National
Security Affairs, for the minutes of all meetings of
the Washington Special Action Group concerning the
Mideast War, the Cyprus erisis, and the Portugal
coup;

3) To the Assistant to the President for National
Security Affairs, for all inteltipence reports {urnished
to the National Security Council between October 5
and October 28, 1973, relating to the Mideast war;

4) To the Director of Central Intelligence, for all
writlen requests and memoranda of requests from
the CIA to the Internal Revenuc Service since July 1,
1961, for tax information or ofticial action by IRS,

8These subpoenas were not complied with:

1) Ta the Assistant to thé President for National
Security Affairs for all Forty Committee records of
decisions laken since January 20, 1963, reflecting
approval of covert action projeets;

2 To the Assistant to the President for National
Security Affairs for doctunents relating to the Soviet
Union's adherence o the provisions of the Strategic
Arms Limitation Treaty of 1972 and the Vladivostok
agreement of 1974; and *

3) To the Secrctary of State for all Sty Depart-
ment dociments recommending covert actions to the
National Security Councit since January 20, 1961,

80The National Sceurity Act of 1947 states:

“(d) Powers and Duties.

“For the purpose of coordinating the . intelligence
activities of the several Government depatrtments and
agencies in the interest of national sceurity, it shall
be the duty of the Ageney, under the direction of the
National Security Council—

“5) to perform such other functions and duties
related to intelligence affecting the national security
as the National Security Council may from time to
time direet.” 50 U.S.S. 403(d) {1973).

MR, FIELD. In the case of the Chile operation,
could you describe very briefly how that was dirccted?

“MR. HELMS. Well, there was a part—

“MR. FIELD. How you came to be told—

“MR. [IELMS. There was some activity undertaken
at the President’s dircction in Chile by his saying to
me that he wanted this cffort made and that [ was
not to inform the other members of the Forty Com-
mittee. .

“MR: FIELD. In other words, in the case of the
Chilcan operation, were you cailed to the Oval Office?

“Mr. HELMS. T was in the Oval Office.

“Mr. FIELD. You were calicd into the Oval Office
and who was present?

“MR. HELMS, The Attorney General and Dr.
Kissinger,” Exce. Sess., Oct. 23, 1975,

f“CHATRMAN PIKE. The question then becomes
—and Mr, Field stated this yesterday—are those op-
crations which are generally within the CIA, and in
the noral course of business, normally more respon-
sible? Do they normally get our nation into less diffi-
culties than those which somebody outside of the
intelligence operation department tells them to do?”

"CHAIRMAN PIKE. Well, herc we arc sceking to
look at the genesis of all oversight and the degree of
control and the degrec of responsibility by which
these operations get launched. X

“You and I, and Mr. Dellums, and Mr. Treen, as
members of the Armed Scrvices Committee, for years
heard the magic word, “The Forty Committee,” 1y
lias seemed to us as we get deeper and deeper into
this that the Torty Committee really has not been all
that relevant in the decision-making process in the
oversight process. The Forty- Committee is always
held forth as being that body which exercises judicial
restraint, perhaps. in-authorizing these various oper-
ations. It has scemed to me and | think most of the
members of this committee that the activitics of .the
Forly Committee have been relatively negligible in
authorizing these aperations,

“We arc trying to get the information to sce
whedher anybody cver veally argues about these
things, to scc whether anybody votes no on these
things, o scc whether the Forty Committee is a
reality or o rubber stamp,”

S7*MR. FIELD. I think this is the best exaniple of
the kind of deletions. The items skip from Ttem 1 10
Item 4, Items 2 and 3 are clearly cut and pasted out
of the document. 1t then skips from 4 10 7. In other
words, hete is a document that could conceivably be
Iwo or three or four pages long. Tt gives you the feel-
ing that you have gotten o reasonable ameant of in-
formation, but in fact all somebody has dane s snip

out little sections and paste them wgether and com- |
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pact them aad make it Jook like it is o complete docu-
ment,”

S¥'MR PIKE. I think that as uny of us look at what
they have given us, we will simply make a pretty casy
judgment that what they have given us is so heavily
censored and deléted as to be meaningless for our pur-
poses.”

It was part of a eeneral request on July 22, 1975,
for all documents previvusly provided the Senate Se.
lect Committee.

™The Senate, which received the same excised ma-
terial, also objected, with more or less' the sante re-
sults, All of this happened before July 22, 1975, Much
time could have been saved had that information been
volunteeréd to the House,

.
6. Privileges

The second Kissin
than the first one.

For the first time in the history of the Ford Ad-
ministration, executive privilege was invoked, The
subpoena which caused this historic assertion was
directed 1o Dr. Kissinger as Secretary of State, [t was
intended for ‘the purpose of examining the type of
covert actions recommended by the State Department
since 1963.

The State Department reported that it had recom-
mended only eight projects—this was later changed
to 16, and still Jatcr to 20—hyt that none of the
documents could be provided to the Committee,

Although only a few of the recomniendations were
from a Sceretary of Stato to a ‘President, all docu-
ments were being withheld hecause they were deemed
privileged communications with Presidents. They in-
cluded recommiendations from lesser State officials to
the staff of the Mational Security Council. with no
apparent intention that the document be for the eyes
or the usc of the President.

. The communication did not take place in this
President’s administration. All privileges recognized
by law are coutrelled specifically and personally by
the person whose communication is being protected,
and this President was not in that position as to all
the documents.™ It muyst be noted, again, that no
other intelligence agency or department withheld
recommendations for covert action——or anything else

rought even less

the Committee’s work would have come to a halt,

In any- event, nothing came forth from the State
Department,

At no time was there g legitimate question as to
which documents the Committee was secking, under
cither this subpocna or the subpoena for Forty Com-
mittee documents. At no time was the physical
amount of paper a problem, since only a few hundred
sheets of paper were at issue, At all times, this Com.
mittee, as well as the Congress, had a right-—and, in
fact, an obligation under law™—to review the in.
formation at issue,

With no. ather recourse, the Committee cited Dr,
Kissinger for contempt on November 14, 1975.76

On November 20, 1975, the Committee approved a
report to the House of Representatives, asking that
the Committee’s contempt citation be supported by
the House itself dnd referred to the US. Attorney
for prosecution, Contempt proceedings began to pro-
duce results with respect to the Forty Committee
records. Revised editions, with fewer deletions, were
soon provided.

Nothing came forth from the State  Department,

The Committee then entered its last two weeks of
hearings, having endured more than three monlths of
uninterrupted delays, cut-offs, silenced witnesses,
amalgams, attacks, deletions, and privileges, -

Finally, the evening before the Committce was to
take a contempt citation of Dr. Kissinger to the floor
of the House for a vote, the Commitice was given
access to State Department recommendations. for co-
vert action,” ’

Footnotes: .

MR, JOHNSON. . .., | don’t think we ought to
even ‘acknowledge that this is a possibility that a
President %can control everything that has happened
in the government- files: and government documents;
that the President has absolute control aver this si
the time -of the jncoption of the Republic.”

75“Sec. 2. The select commiitiee is authorized and
dirceted to conduct an inquiry into—

“(5) the necessity, nature, and extent of overt and
covert intelligence activities by United States intelli-
gence instrumentalities in the United Stales and
abroad:” H. Res. 591, 94th Cong., Ist Sess. (1975).

76“Resolved, That the Speaker- of the House of
Representatives certify the report of the Sclect Com.
wittee on Intelligence of the House of Representatives

as to the contumacious conduet of Henry A Kissinger,
as Secretary of State, in failing and refusing to pro-
duce certain pertinent materials in complianee with
a subpocna duces tecum of said Select Committee
served upon - Henty A. Kissinger, as Secretary of
State: and as ordered by the Select Commiitiee, {o-
gether with all the facts in connection therewith,
under the seal of the House of Representatives to the
United States Attorney for the District of Columbia,
to the end that Henry A. Kissinger, as Secretary of
State, may be proceeded against in the manner and
form provided by law."

MR, FIELD. ... Mr, Hyland . . . had both the
State Department: recommendations and the Forty
Commitice minutes before him. He read verbatim
from the Forty Committee minutes, and he used the
State Department recommendations to verify the date,
the country, and the type of program that was recon-
mended by the State Department, and in response to
our questions, he was very forthcoming.”

7. More Delay

The third so-called Kissinger subpoena was inte
ded for the review of strategic arms limitation agre
ment (SALT) intelligence handling, but brought in-
stead a return to the dclay.

What is SALT, and why was the Committee so in-
terested in the intelligence aspects of it? Briefly,
SALT covers the strategic arms limitation agrece-
ments signed with the Russians in 1972, to limit the
arms race. The agrecmients specifically limit such
things as missile preduction, deployment, and testing
by the United States and the Soviel Union. The ability
of our intelligence services to detect whether the Rus-
sians are violating this agreement is of vital strategic

interest. More important, SALT intclligence must be -

able to move through channels, uninfluenced by bias
or ulterior motives, to appropriate decisionmakors,

The Comnmittee had earlier received testimony that,
during the Vietnam War, a desire to please highlevel
officials may have caused some intelligence to reflect
what the upper levels wanted to hear. Vietnam is
history, but SALT is not.

To check how intelligence was being handled at

" the highest levels, and whether it was ever withheld

from top Executive officials or Congress, the Com-
mittee subpoenacd all reports on_ Soviet compliance
that had been sent to the National Sccurity Council.

At first, Committee stafl went to the White House
and was given a few SALT monitoring  reports.

These, it was said, were absolutely all that (he Na.’

lional Security Council had in its files on the subject
of SALT compliance. It did not scem possible.

For one reason, the Verification Pancl, which exists
primarily to review SALT matters, is part of the Na-
tional Security Council and has been quite active.
For another, the Committee had already identified
dozens of pertinent documents from the intelligence
community which had becn sent to the National Se-
curity Council 82

The skepticism proved accurate. After Committee
proceedings to cite Dr, Kissinger for contempt of the

- SALT subpoena, on November 14, 1975, volumes of

SALT intelligence materials began to come forth.

A week had passed since the return date of the
subpoena before the documents we needed were even
identificd, making preparations for hearings most dif-
ficult.83 This was the last of the subpoenas, however.,

In reviewing the oversight experience, access to in-
formation, even when it was backed up by subpocna,
was not satisfactory. As an example, at the Stale De.
partment we found that lower level officials had
eventually been ordered not 1o testify before (he Com-
mittee; their documents were likewise refused to Con-
gress. Upper level officials at State had Become in-
accessible because of exceutive privilege; and diplo-
matic exchanges, an important element of intclligence,
were similarly off limits to the Committee,

To place the importance of this in perspective, in-
telligence has two primary consumers: military and
diplomatic. Diplomacy is preferable to war; yet it is
nearly impossible, today, to cvaluate how well intel-
ligence serves diplomatic ends. 1f it doos not scrve
well. it is hard fo imagine how anything could be
known or done about it by Congress.

The passion for vonfidentiality and secrecy at State
is_curious, because in many cases the Russians and

other adversaries were cither directly informed of *

the name secrets the Committee sought, or the Rus.
sians know of them by other means® |y is hard to
imagine a justilication for allowing the unclected to
keep elected officials in the dark. in a demacracy.

Footnotes:

B2We had not received any documents fram the
Vaerilication Pancl or its subcommittee, the Restricted
Working Group. In-addition, we had identilicd some

40 documents sent to the NSC from CIA that should
have been ineluded in the subpoenaed material.

81The Jack of access to documents was the primary
reason no administration witness was called to testily
ot the Commitiee’s first SALT hearing, Without docu-
ments to identify issucs, we called & SALT critic,
Admiral Elmo Zumwalt, to testify.

Ironically, the same officials who withheld primary
source materials from us criticized the Committee for
nol presenting administration witnesses. However,
we had no cvidence to question them about,

After documents were sent to the Committee, a
hearing was held to receive testimony from two
senior administration officials with reference 1o cor-
tain documents that appeared to show withholding of
intelligence. The point is that until the Executive
opened access to documents we could not select ap-
propriate witnesses pr be prepared with issues; nev-
ertheless, that same Lxceutive, made it scem that res-
ponsibility for not calling their witnesses rested. with
the Committee.

8Tor example, SALT intelligence was put on
"“hold”~— which means it was not only classified, but
not even generally distributed in the executive branch.
Mr. Hyland testified as to one of these “hold” items:

“MR FIELD. But the Russians were told it twice
while it was on hold.

“MR. HYLAND. That is the purpose of the system,
If you decide not to do it, that is one decision.

“MR. FIELD. Who was it kept from?

“MR. IYLAND. As far as I am concerned. officials
who had an operational policy decision were in-
formed. !

“MR. FIELD. That is not the question, Whom are
we keeping it a secret from?

“MR. HYLAND. We are keeping a hold iten
sceret from people who might read the Central Tn.
telligence Bulletin that is disseminaled in several hun-
dred copies.

“MR. FIELD. We tell the Russians,

“MR. HYLAND, Of course.”

8. Routine Problems

When legal proceedings were not in the offing. the
access experience was frequently one of foot-dragging,
stonewalling, and careful deception.

A few examples should suffice.

The President went on television June 10, 1975, and
reassured the nation that the uncompleted work of
the Rockefeller Commission would be carried for-
ward by the two intelligence committees of the Con-
gress. The files of the Commission, President Ford an-
neunced, would be turned over to both committees
immediately 85

The Committee began requesting those files within
the week. We requested and requested 86 We nego-
tiated.

Finally, by threatening to announce publicly that
the President’s word had not been kept, the files were
turned over—in mid-October, some four months late.

In another case, likewise involving basic research
information. the Committee’ in early August, re-
quested a complete set.of what has become known
as the “Family Jewels." This 693-page document was
the very foundation of the current investigations. It
had come into existence as the result of an order by
former CIA Director James Schlesinger, on May 9,
1973, in the wake of Watergate revelations. Dr.
Schlesinger had ordered CIA employees to report any
possible past wrongdoing. and those reports were
compiled into the “Jewels” on May 21, 1973.87

By the end of August, the Committce had been pro-

‘vided only a sanitized version of the document. Let-

lers were sent and negotiations proceeded throughout
September. On October 7, 1973. the stafl was told
that they would not be allowed (o see the complele
record of wrongdoing as assembled in May 197358

A sccond sanilized version was sent in mid-October,
but it was hardly less sanitized than the first. As an
interesting sidelight. the sccond version did have one
page that was not in the first. [t was a photocopy of
a Jack Anderson newspaper article, nothing more. In
the first version. that page had been blanked out,
with the message, “This information deleted because
it reveals sensitive operational techniques and meth-
ods.” The second version was not deleted, but it was
classified.

The Chairman demanded a complete copy of the
report, and was told that one would be forthcoming.
None was. As a result, he scheduled a press confcr-
ence for (2:00 noon on October 11, 1975,

At 11:45 anm. on October (1, 1975, the TCport was
finally delivered  after the tife of the Committee’s
investigation was more than half over.

These two examples represent some of the most
hasic rescarch materials available to the Committee.
Their cantents were crimes, abuses, and questionable
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conduct, not sophisticated or
scerets. '

Other important information was withheld, such
as a Committee request for certain records of the
President’s Foreign Intclligence Advisory Board. On
August 25, 1975, a letter was sent asking for a copy
of the Board's agendas since 1961. No written re-
sponse to that letter has cven beea received.

The Board interested the Committee from the stand-
point of command and control, There have been nu-
merous recommendations, for example, that a-pending
executive reorganization make this group the key
command and control unit for forcign intelligenceS!

The Committee is still waiting for the Board's doc-
uments to be delivered, despite the fact that the rank-
ing minority member of the Committee took a pet-
sonal interest in the matter, A month of his efforts
produced only a limited right to see certain informa-
tion, not the documents themselves.

Another important ‘picce of information the Com-
mittee requested was the names and relationships of
newsmen who worked for both the CIA and the
American news media at the saine time. Congress-
man Dellums asked for this in executive session on
August 6. 197592 The inforination was re-requested
by letter on October {4, 1975, and on October 21,
1975, and on October 31, 1975, and on September 2,
197553 - o -

The Committee is still waiting for answers about
the newsmen. The only information it did receive
was in response to inquiries about specific news-
men, after we had deterined from other sources that
there was a CIA connection. In fact, in one case, the
CIA denied the relationship until confronted with
irrefutable proof.

As a final example, there is a category of intelli-
gence that is sent to the Secretary of State, who then
contrals its further dissemination. It is called “NODIS
CHEROKEL."%

inpate, intelligence

The Committee  specifically .requcstcd NODIS -

CHEROKEL information with reference to the Cy-
prus crisis in 1974. It was told none cxisted. Two
months later other officials revealed that the mate-
rials do exist. When the Committec went back to
State with this new information, it was simply told
NODIS CHEROKEE was not going to be given to
us.% By then, there was no time left to issue a
subpoena. -

~ a. The Right Question

Perhaps the most difficult problem in developing
information about intelligence activities is knowing
the right question to ask.5?

As an illustration, Committec staff obtained the
names of CIA proprictarics, after lengthy negotiations.
Some time later, staff members noticed .that certain
names were not on the list. The explanation was that
those were “fronts,” and we had not asked for fronts.

Nor was this sort of semantic contest confined to

‘staff inquirics. In one public hearing, Congress-

man Stanton and the FBI’s Raymond Wannall con-
sumed more than five minutes drawing distinctions
among “surreptitious entry,” “burglary,” and “illegal
break-in.” .

Another example grew out of a Commiitee investi-
gation of a covert action project that had taken place
some years ago. This particular project was the sub-
ject.of unusual interest by the Commitice, both be-
cause of the country involved and because it entailed
tampering in the free election of an allied nation. The
Committee’s objections to the project were strong
enough that ‘it voted to recommend to the President
that the project no longer be kept sccret.

Astonishingly, while the Committce was in the
midst of objecting to this past project, CIA was ob-
taining approval for re-instituting the same type of
project in the same country. The CIA never told the
Committee about this renewal. When newspapers re-
vealed the new project, Committee staff asked the
CIA why it had not been told. The responsc was,
“You didn’t ask the right question.”

Time and again, a question had to be rcpeated and
variously repeated. Only then. would  the sought-
after facts emerge, even though the intent of the
questions had been readily apparent. The operable
ground rules were, as one official put it, “After all,
we're not.a Coke ‘machine; you don’t just put in a
quarter and cxpect something to come out.”

Examples of the difficulty in asking the right ques-
tion are a bit like trying to prove a negative; the full
impact ‘may not be possible to illustrate. It was,
however, the most nagging factor in attempting to
exhaust the jtems that deserved Congressional insight.
The significance is that it reflects an attitute which
cannot be expected to change; and, as long as that
is the case, rcady access to documentary evidence and

primary source material is all the. more imperative.

Footnotes:

#5"Because the investigation of the political assas-
sination allegations is incomplete . ;. [ will make
ayailable to the Senate and Tiouse Sclect Commitices
these [Rockefeller Commission] malterials together
with other related materials in the cxecutive branch.
... I'should add, that the Senate and House Commit-
tees are also in the process of making further investi-
gations as they have been charged with the responsi-
bility by the Congress: 5o there's not going to be any
possibility of any cover-up because we're giving them
the material that the Rockefeller Commission devel-
oped in their hearings. . . .” President's News Confer-
ence, Washington, D.C., June 10, 1975.

8More than two dozen phone calls were made, by
three separate members of the staff, over a three-
month period. .

BTMR. JOHNSON. On May 9th of 73, Mr. Schles-
inger issued a directive calling on all CIA employees
to report any and all abuscs by the CIA. That is a
matter of public records, there isn’t any question
about that, is there?

“MR. COLBY. No, sir.

“MR. JOHNSON. And is it also a fact that by
May 21, just i1 days later, there were scveral hun-
dred separate reports of abuses which had been re-
ported to him?

“MR. COLBY. There were a number of abuses. I
couldn’t give you a quantitative statement,

“MR. JOHNSON. Thal is the report that has becn
called by a variety of namos, it has been called poten-
tial flap activities, or jewels, or the famiily jewels;
isn’t that the report we are talking ahout?

“MR. COLBY. Yes.”

88“On 4 September [ formally requested to see the
original copy of the unsanitized ‘family jewels® from
the Review Stafl at CIA. I was put off. Then Seymour
Bolten, Chicf of Review Staff, countered with an of-
fer to have someone sit with Mr. Pike and let him
read a version. This was unacceptable, so they further
‘compromised’ and offercd to let Jack Boos and A.
Searle Field sit at CIA with the sanitized ‘family
jewels’ and ask for each sanitization as it came up.
This was also unacceptable and the access flap
started,

“Now, I have been told by Donald Gregg and Sey-
mour Bolten that ‘no one will see the original, unsani-
tized family jewels.” ” Memorandum to Mr. A. Searle
Field, from Emily Sheketoff, Oct. 7, 1975,

8“Pike told reporters the documents had been
turned over to him, for Committee use, ‘a few minutes
before noon.

** “We have been trying to get documents with hard
cvidence and a particular document including the re-
port generated by Mr. Schlesinger about alleged im-
proprieties within the CIA,’ [Pike] said.

“Defense Sccretary James R. Schlesinger seryed
as CIA dircctor for a few months in 1973 and held an
in-house investigation of the agency before he left
that post.” “Pike Gets a New Report,” The Washing-
ton Star, p. A-10, Oct. 11, 1975, :

?1From time to time, the Board has examined the
scope and effectiveness of coverl action and the tech-
nical means of gathering intelligence. Staff was in-
formed of current discussions to enhance the responsi-
bilitics and resources of the Board. Another concern
was the role and interrelationships of members of the
Board with the business community. Many of these
members arc affiliated with major intelligence com-
munity contractors.

92“MR. DELLUMS. Describe the existence and na-
ture of the CIA secret propaganda operations in the
U.S. I would appreciate detail, How many U.S. jour-
nalists overscas are in contact with the CIA? How
many outlets for media opcrations does the CIA have
in the U.8.7”

#3This set of requests was for “a complete list of
all people now in the news media who have ever had
a relationship, contractual or otherwisc, with the
Agency.” Letter to Donald Gregg, Assistant to the
Dircctor, CIA, from Emily Sheketoff, Oct. 21, 1975,

%4“MR. HITCHCOCK. NODIS CHEROKEE is a
particularly - sensitive category of NODIS messages
limited in use to relatively few embassies, covering
intelligence materials of *extravrdinary ‘sensitivity,
handled virtually only by the Secretary, the President,
if he is involved, and the Chicf of Mission. And virtu-
ally one-man dissemination in Washington and the
field.” -

#6“All of them (NODIS CHEROKEE) . . . contain
diplomatic correspondence between the capitals and
Washington. . . . Thus, these messages do not deal
with the intelligence matters of concern: to the com:
mittee and do not relate to your request of 16 Octo-
ber.” Letter to Gregory Rushford from J. J. Hitch-
cock, Department of State, Jan. 5, 1976.

°7MR. PIKE. 1t has becn my experience and judg-
ment that if you [Mr. Colby] arc asked precisely the
right .question, you, will give an honest answer. You

do et lead s info thuse aveas which would help us
know' What thie'right question was to usk. You do not
make it casy for us to ask the right question. Anyone
who thinks you have been rupning back and forth
to Capitol Hill with bricfcases bulging with sccrets
which you are cager to bestow upon us hasn’( sat on
my side of the desk.”

Congress and
the Secrecy
Dilemma

Classificd information. presents a classic paradox:
without it, government sometimes cannot function;
with it, government somctimes cannot function.

Spy agencies cannot publish details about their
operations. At the same time, Congress cannot fait
to report to its constituents about abuses of their
government, What it all means is that there must be
a responsible system of classification, accompanied
by an equally responsible and effective system of
declassification.

We have neither.

It has been casy to create secrets, but this govern-
ment has yet to construct an adequate way to*handle
the problems too many secrcts create. We have no
Official Secrets Act—which would make it a crime
to publish secrets—because such a law would be un-
constitutional .19 Therefore, the only real enforce-
ment of classification is sanctioning those who depend
on access to sccrets,!®! such as Congress. Congress
can be, and has becn, either cut off from classified
information or convinced to receive sccrets selec-
tively.

That is only the beginning of classification problems,

The law says that there are to be only three cate-
gories of classifications: top sccret, secret, and con-
fidential 192 In spite of this, intelligence agencics
spawn all ‘sorts of “higher” classification, such as
“code word” or compartment” categories. Jusl as
often, information is simply withheld from Congress
under ad hoc arrangements. This Committee was
frequently told that, whercas its mandate was legal
authority to receive classified informarion, that was
not enough.

Footnotes: .

100Mr, Colby stated: “I do believe that the question
of an Official Secrets Act has to be looked at in the
context of our Constitution . . . [ would not apply it
to the press, for example, because 1 think that would
run into real conflict with our Constitution.”

Chairman Pike summarized the witnesses’ testi-
mony as follows: “I gather that you are all agreed
there should be no Official Secrets Act or the equiva-
lent thereof, and that our Constitution simply doesn't
allow it, for openers.”

1011n the course of the investigation, one official
reminded Committee staff of an anecdote involving
President Kennedy and Chairman Khrushchev. Dur-
ing one of their visits, President Kennedy apparently
asked the Russian leader about a Soviet citizen who
had been sentenced to 23 years for running naked
through Red Square shouting, “The Party Leader is a
moron.” Chairman Khrushchev allegedly replicd, “He
got onc year for indecent exposure, two years for
insulting the Chairman, and twenty years for reveal-
ing a state secrct.” : -

102The classification categories and criteria uscd by
the exccutive branch arc defined in Section 1 of
Executive Order 11652, as follows:

“SECTION 1. Security Classification Categorics,
Official information or material which requires pro-
tection against unauthorized disclosure in the intercst
of -the national defense of foreign ‘relations of the

United States (hereinafter collectively termed “na- .| .

tional sccurity”) shall be classified in one of three
categories, .namely “Top Secret,” “Sceret,” or “Con-
fidential,” depending upon the degree of its: signifi-
cance to national security. No other categories shall
be uscd to identify official information or material
#s requiring protection in the interest of national
security, except as otherwise expressly. provided by
slatute.”

1. Oaths and Agreements

The first matter of busincss between the CIA and
the Committce was a request by the Agency that all
of the staff be required fo sign six pages of CIA
oaths.

These elaborate oaths stipulated, iq E:Ikk;ct,l accept-
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able conduct for Congressional cmpluyug with 're-
spect to things ClA had determined were secret,
Without oaths, sccrets would not be forthcoming.
The staff represents, of course, Commitlee raembers,
but the members were not asked to sign oaths. Per-
haps this was because members would not do any-
thing untoward with secrcts. More likely, it was be-
cause they would protest loudty.

The Committee reminded CIA that subjecting our
employees to Executive oaths would violate the con-
cept that Congress is an independent and co-equal
branch of government.

It is the Constitutional nspuumbxluy of Congress
to control its own stafl, and this is the course the
Committee followed.” [t required every employee to
sign a statement, drafted by the Committee, reflect-
ing the necds and considerations of Congress, and en-
forced by Congress.t0?

This may seem like so much posturing; but it is
important not to underestimate the significance of
firmly establishing the premise that a target of an in-
vestigation does -not’ lay .down ground rules.” As the
Agency noted, this has not been the case in the past;
and it may be one of the rcasons this investigation
had become necessary.108

The next move was to require the Comnittee to
enter into agreements.

The proposed agreements outlined certain cate-
gorics of information so- seusitive that the Conmmittee
was to agree in advance not to see them. When this
was rejected, a modified version of those agreements
set forth proposed rules and regulations the Ceom-
mittee would abide by if certain classificd information
were to be made available.!? These agreements also
included a proposal to “compartment” our staff.110
Compartmenting would mean “dividing them up and
restricting their access to each other’s work,

The Committee refused to sign. It refused even to
agree, as a matter of “understanding,” that Execu-
tive rules would be binding. Such proposed under-
standings included allowing intelligence officials to
review the notes of investigators before notes could
be brought back to Committee offices. Other com-
mittees have consistently been subjected to that ar-
rangement.11!

The FBI then came forward with a six-page agree-
ment that they requested be signed before classified
information could be handled by the Committee.

The FBI proposal was even more restrictive than
CIA’s. Sccret documents would he made available in
special roous at the FBI, with FBI monitors present.
Notes would be reviewed by FBI agénts. After notes
had been appropriately sanitized, they would be sent
to. our offices. 112

Once again, the Committee refused (o sign. It did
agree.orally to put all future requests for documents
in writing. The repercussions of this oral agreement
illustrate quite nicely the problem ‘with agreements.
A few days later the Commitiee received a letter from
the Justice Department stating that requests for ma-
terials that had bzen made a month earlier by Com-
mittee members in public hearings had not been ful-
filled. Even though FBI .officials had publicly agreed
to furnish the documents promptly, the requests had
not been “in writing.”113

While the Committee was negatiating an end to the
cut-off from classified information, another agreement
for handling secrets was proposcd by the Executive.
The Committee was asked to agree that certain cate
gories of information be inaccessible.1'4 Other cate-
gories would be available only to senior members, by
means of selective briefings. Again, it was not
agreed to.

Footnotes: ’

107The following excerpts are from the agrecment
signed and honored by the members of the Commit-
tee’s staff:

“EMPLOYEE AGREEMENT

“1. I have read House resolution 591 94th Con-
gress, establishing the House Select Committce on In-
telligence, and the Commitice’s Rules and Security
Regulations.

“2. I understand that as a condition of employ-
ment with the Committee I am required to, and here-
by agree to, -abide by House Resolution 541, 84ih
Congress, and by the Committec’s Rules and Security
Regulations,

“4. l further agree that ] will not divulge to any
unauthorized person in any way, form, shape or
manner the contents of classilied information received
or abtained pursuant to House Resolution 591, 94th
Cougu,ss 1 understand that it is my responsibility to
ascertain whether information so received or obtained
is classificd. 1 further understand and agree that the
obligations hereby pluced on me by this paragraph
coutinue -ufter my Ln\PlU)ﬂ\Lnl with (hc Committee
has terminaled.” o

108As the Chairman expressed it to Mr. Rex Lee of
the fustice Department: “It means the Executive
Branch comes up mind whispers in one friendly Con-
gressman’s ear or another friendly Congressman’s car,
and that is exactly what you want to continue, and
that Is exactly what [ think has led us into the mess
we are i

19%c, The compartmentation procedures of the In-
telligence Community have been established pursuant
1o statute and National Security Council Intelligence
Directives.. The simplest way for the staff to obtain
access to this compartmented material would be to
accept the normal secrecy arrangements as modified
in the enclosed, This would ensure against difficultics
in access to such compartmented material throughout
the Intelligence Community.”” Letler to Chairman
Pike, from Mr. Colby, CIA, July 28, 1975.

10T he specific suggestion came in a letter to the
Chairman: “The security principle of ‘compartmen-
wation” involving special access and information dis-
semination controls is designed to ensure that only
those individuals whose ‘nced to know' have been
‘specifically approved by some higher authority, who
have been spucnllv indoctrinated, and who undertake
special commitments to protect it arc provided access
to-a particularly sensitive category of forcign intelli-

R e R AT I

Senator Henry Jackson: He was "cxtremely helpful" to
the CIA in its “problems” with Senate investigators.

gence sources and methods, Compartmentation assists
in the application of the ‘need-to-know' principle by
ensuting that Individuals are provided access to only
that infotmation clearly essential to the performance
of their duties. .

“For your mformalmn in addition to the Scnate
Sclect Committee’s use of the modificd secrecy oath
dealing with compartmented access, the following
House and Senate committees have obtained com-
partmented access for their stafls, which was granted
after the normal bricfings and signing of the secrecy
oath:

“Armed Scrvices Committce

“Appropriations Committee

“Acronautical and Space Sciences Committee”
Letter to Chairman Pike, from Mr, Colby, CIA, July
28, 1975,

M The CIA has also informed this Committee that
all other Congressional committees leave their per-
sonal notes at Agency headguarters.

112(3) The Depattinent will furnish access at the
Hoover Building in Room 4171 to thosc materials re-
quested:

“(a)only to the members of the Committee, where
it is determined by the Attorney General that the
materials invalve peculiarly sensitive foreign intelli-
gence sources of peculiarly sensitive ongoing forcign
inteligence operations.

“{c) -An exception to (a) and (b) above is made
for the idemities of so-called “live” informants or
poteutial informants as. defined in the FBI Manual
of Instructions as to which no access will be fur-
nished unless the identity of the individual as an in-
formant or potestial informant has already becn made
known to the Committee. . .

“(a) Before the copies of . .. matcrials are taken
to the Committee’s offices, the Bureaw shall. within 24
hours of the sclection, make appropriate excisions and
parapheascs- of information which might, if inadver-
tently disclosed, cndanger sensitive FBI sources ot
sensitive ongoing operations,

“The Committee staff may - remove ‘notes’ on " un-

‘the CIA. It was

screencd materfals bhly {f Such notes are reviewed
and clearcd by the Bureau under the provisions of
(6) (a) thru (c) above.” Procedures, submitted by
the Department of - Justice, to the House Selest Com-
mitiee on Intelligence, Aug. 19, 1975,

N™You will recall that the Committée agreed to
put all requests for materials, documents, informa-
tion, and briefings in writing. . . ,

“To date the Department has not received written
requests which encompass all of the oral requests
which were made by the different Committec mem-
bers during the testimony of Messrs. Pommerening
and Walsh before the Committee on August 7, 1975,
Letter to Mr. Field, from Mr. Steven Blackhurst,
Department of Justice, Aug, 21, 1975,

4y, Identitics of sccret, agents, sources and per-
sons and organizations involved in operations which,
if disclosed, would be subject to personal physical
danger, or to extreme harassment, or to economic or
other reprisals, as well as material provided confiden-
tially by coopcrating foreign intelligence services;
diplomatic exchanges or ather material the disclosure
of which would be embarrassing to forcign govern-
menis and damaging to the forcign relations of the
United States; and

“2. Specific details of sensitive intelligence methods
and techniques of collection. . . .

“Verification procedurcs will continue to be avail-
able in case of Committee questions concerning mat-
ters deleted by the Exccutive agency.

“Other matters, the complcte confidentiality of
which the President personally certifics is essential
1o the effective discharge of Presidential powers, may
be withheld.” Draft Agrecment, submitted ko the
Committes, Sept. 28, 1975.

2. Selective Briefings

Soon after the opcnmg hearings, staff began in-
vestigating a high-risk, secret program. A request was
made to interview the official in charge of the pro-
gram. The interview was granted. but the official
refused to talk about the program. He sat with a thick
book of documents, but he refused to let any docu-
ments be reviewed. They were too sceret,

Intclligence officials made a proposal the Com-
mittee would hear again and again. The Chairman
and perhaps the ranking minority Member could be
briefed on the program.$17 In light of the fact that the
Committee had been told that clcarances would not
be used to block the staff's work, it protested. When
the Chaitman refused to be briefed afone, intelligence
officials relented and atlowed staff to have access to
the information, so long as the Chairman was briefed
first.

A second example illustrates the problem with
sclective briefings. The Committee inquired into a
project that mcluded foreign military assistance via
“too sensitive” to discuss with stafl.
Once again, intclligence’ officials asked to bricf the
Chairman and senior Members.

The full Committee and staff wete briefed, and the
consensus was that the project had turned out to be
one of the more outrageous ventures by CIA. Some
months later, this same¢ project was the subject of
a Commiittee action to ask the President that the full
story be made public.

A recent CIA operation in Africa followed the same
awkward course of senior Member and senior staff
briefings first, then full and prompt disclosure to the
Committee. This Committee .consistently maintained
this policy that everything told to- senior members
was promiptly told to the full Committce !!® Tf Con-
gress wanted a one- or two-man Committee, it had
every opportunity to set one up. It has not done so
to date. Preventing this from happening de facto was,
and is, a serious challenge.t!%

Footnotes:

"This request was a constant problem,. as illus-
trated by the Chairman's remarks with reference to
subpocnaed Forty Committee materials:

“Chairman PIKE. It bas been indicatcd to me that
1 would be permitted to go down and look at these

documents. That is nol satisfactory to me. We sub-

pocnaed these documents for the Committee. One of
the difficultics which my predecessor had was that
he was in possession of information which the rest
of the Committee did nat have. This Chairman has
made it clear from the outset that when we stbpoena
documents for the Commitiee and when there is
information which the Committee - fecls it is esscntial
that the Commitiee haye, 1 am not going to look at
the mfunnanon and deprive the rest of the Commil-
tee of it”

U“Chairman PIKE. 1 hav; two problems with llmt
~crification situation.
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“We have had this situation time and time again
in_the House of Representatives whire the members
of a committee, and the members of the House are
asked 10 trust the discretion of the Chairman, or of
the Chairman and the ranking Member.

“1 have a great deal of problem with the concept
that I should be privy to information which is with.
Leld from the rest of the Committee. That is No, 1.”

W9alntelligence agencies arc constantly mancuvering
to keep information from Congress:

“MEMORANDUM FOR

THE RECORD 23 February 1973

FROM: [deleted], CHIEF, WESTERN HEMIS-
PHERE DIVISION

RE: MEETING WITH SENATOR JACKSON
TQ DISCUSS HOW CIA SHQULD
HANDLE INQUIRIES FROM SENATOR
CHURCH'S SUBCOMMITTEE ON MUL-
TINATIONAL CORPORATIONS, IN RE-
GARD TO CIA INVOLVEMENT W{TH
ITT IN'CHILE IN 1970.

"TOPICS DISCUSSED. Senator Jackson's advice
to us was as follows:

“1. Senator Jackson felt strongly that the first
order of business for CIA in terms of handling the
basic issues that were involved in the Senate Foreign
Relations Subcommittce on Multinational Corpora-
tions asking the Agency about its activities in Chile
in 1970, was to discuss the problem with the White
House. (Jackson) was quitc explicit that ‘this con-
versation should be carried out by Schlcsinger and
that he should talk with no one ather than President
Nixon and Mr. Halderman (sic). The Senator stressed
repeatedly that the Church Subcommittee on . Multi-
national Corporations had focused on ITT only in
the sense that this was the top of the iceberg. . . .

“2. Senator Jackson felt that the uftimate solution
to the problem facing the Agency . . . could be found
in getting Senator McClellan, ‘acting on behalf of
Senator Stennis, to call a session of the CIA Over-
sight Committee. This Committee would then look
into the nature and scope of CIA’s activitics in Chile
in 1970. Once that was accomplished, the Oversight
Committee would handle the Forcign Relations Com-
mittee. Senator Jackson repeatedly made the comment
that in his view the CIA Oversight Committee had
the responsibility of protecting the Agency in the
type of situation that was inherent in the Church
Subcommittee. As a result of this conviction, Senator
Jackson would work with the Agency to sce that we
got this protection . . .

“4, Once the Oversight Committce had heard the
details  provided on the CIA’s involvement, ‘the
Agency could send a brief statement to the Church
Subcommittee staff members in response to the ques-
tions which they had previously posed to CIA. Senator
Jackson agreed that the following statement would
be perfectly adequate for this purpose:

““The testimony of Mr. Helms on 5 und 7 Febru-
ary before the Scnate Foreign Relations Committee
clearly established that CIA ncither gave to nor re-
ceived from ITT funds for use in Chile in 1970 for
support of political parties. In addition, Mr. Felms’
testimony brought out the fact that there were no
joint action programs established in the context of the
1970 political developments.in Chile. CIA regards
Mr. Helms’ testimony on this topic to be accurate
thus, no further claboration is ptanned.’. . ,

9. Comment. Senator Jackson was extremely help-
ful throughout 23 February on the issue of the
Agency’s problems with the Church Subcommittee,
Senator Jackson is convinced that it is essential that
the procedure not be established whereby CIA can
be called upon to testify before a wide range of
Congressional committees,”

3. Special Restrictions

Committee Members are not the only object of se-

crecy atrangements proposed by intefligence officials,
Other Members of Congress apparently cannot be
trusted with sccret information about the government
they govern.

Time and again, staff was told that it would be
difficult to turn over documents because of Rule 11.
Rule 11 is-a House rule that allows members of the
House of Representatives ro have access to all “com-
mittee hearings, records, data, charts, and files . . ."120

“The Committee was asked fo sign letters affirming
that it would not turn over any documents to another
Member of the House. The Committee was eventu-
ally asked to pass a Resolution to that effect, Some-
times this acted to delay the forwarding of documents,
The primary result was that most materials the Com-
mittee received in the closiig months of its investi-
gations were “‘on loan."t2t L

The concept of loaning materials o the Commitlee
had other advantages for the intelligence community.

The first advantage is the right lo possession and
contral of finat disposition of our -files. Without a
loun acrangement, stafl was told that certuin papers
could not be provided.

The other advantage in loaning documents per-
tained to a possible court contest over release of clas-
sifiedd information, If release of a document were
going to be legally disputed, the Exceutive clearly
wanted to be in the position of having legal possession
ol that document. Unfortunatcly. release or publica-
tion of Commitice information raised far morc imme-
diate, and practical, problems,

Footnotes:
120§pecifically, House Rule XI(2) (e) (2) provides
that:

*All committce hearings, records, data, charts, and
files shall be kept separate and distinct from the con-
gressional office. records of the Member serving as
chairman of the commitiee; and such tecords shall be
the property of the House and all Members of the
House shall have access thereto.”

21The standard caveat, which accompanied all ma-
terials turned over to the Committce, was adopted
from a letter of Sept. 30, 1975:

“This is forwarded on loan with the understanding
that therc will be no public disclosure of this classi-
fied material (nor of testimony, depositions or inter-
views concerning it} without a reasonable oppor-
tunity for us to consult with respect to it.”" Letter to
Chairman Pike, f[rom Mr. Colby, CIA,

4.The Release of Information

One of the most troubling problems the Committee
faced was what information to releasc and what proc-
ess to follow in making its decision. A corollary
problem was what to do about unauthorized release
of information.

Existing standards for classifications are vague,
arbitrary, and overused. Almost anything can be a
“source” or “methad” of intelligence—which are the
primary criteria for foreign intelligence classifica-
tions. As a result, the sources or methods by-line is
used to classify items that have practically no bearing
at all on intelligence, but was extremely embarrass-
ing.123

Overuse of classifications is incvitable when, by the
Executive’s most recent estimatc, some 15,466 persons
can classify information.!24

The difficulty is that no onc in Congress can de-
classify. The Executive Branch claims exclusive and
sole jurisdiction. This gives an administration the
power to use the classification system in a manner
that can result in manipulation of news by declassify-
ing information that can be used to justify policy,
while maintainitg classification of information that
may lead to contrary conclusions. Another aspect to
be recognized is that classification can hide conduct
from the American people that is well-known to the
foreign country involved. Castro knew of the assas-

sination attempts, the Cambodians knew they were’

being bombed, but the American people, whose gov-
ernment was engaging in these practices, were not
aware of the activities becausc of the classification
system.

The dilerama arises when a Congressman or Com-
mittee receives information which one or the other
decides should be brought beforc the people they
represent. This Committee faced that problem and
did not reach a satisfactory solution.

The procedurc followed by the Committee was
that when it decided to consider making public cer-
tain information taken dircctly from clussified docu-
ments or testimony, it would give appropriate execu-
tive branch officials 48 hours’ notice. It would then
allow those officials to appear before the Committec,
in ‘closed session, and present arguments against re-
leasc of all or part of the information. If no agree-
ment could be reached, the materials at issue would
be forwarded to the President. They would be re-
leascd ‘unless the: President asserted, personally and
in writing, that release would be “detrimental to the
-national sccurity.”126 )

The Comumittec used this process with three sep-
arate- picces of information. All threc were covert
CIA projects. Their release was proposed in scp-
aratc motions placed before the Committce by Con-
gressman Johnson,

The initial Johnson motions were introduced in
November (975, and voted down by the Committee,
with five Members not present. Some weeks later. the
motions were made again, with all but onc Member
present, and approved by the majority. 128 This began
the release of information process.

‘The next step was to draft a short statement out-

lining the significant aspects of each covert opera-
tion.1®® The statements were forwarded to the Special
Counsel Lo the Dircetor of Central [ntelligence, with
an accompanying letter notilying him of an oppor-
tunity to present the Intelligence Community’s views
in a hearing three days later. .

The Dircctor of Central Intelligence, Mr. Colby,
appeared, accompanied by appropriate officials, to
present any specific objections he might have, His
response was specilic, but sweeping. He objected to
cverything, no matter how it was worded, and no
matter how impossible it would be to identify a
country, a source, or an operational method.13!

M. Colby’s response scemed to end any good faith
eflort to work out mutually acceptable relcase of in-
formation, but the Committce made one more effort.
The three statements were rewritten, making them
even more general than before. Names of countrics
were taken out; only gross dollar totals were used;
and innumcrable generic descriptions were inserted.
In one case, far less remained than had appeared in
newspaper articles attributed to high exccutive branch
officials.

In a hearing the next day, Mr. Colby still objected
to the release of anything.132

This meant that all the materials had to be for-
warded to the President for a decision on whether
release would be detrimental to the national security.
The President, of course, turned to CIA for guidance.

More than: three weeks later, the Chairthan was
informed in writing by the President that the Com-
mittee could not implement its decision to release
the two statements, )

Incredibly, the President’s letter was classificd
“secret.” The secret stamp was unnecessary, because
there were no facts at all about the covert projects
in his letter. The types of projects at issue -were not
even mentioned. The letter was simply a rhetorical
pronouncement of how important confidentiality is,
and how telling the American people what their gov-
ernment is doing in these matters would harm our
best interests. .

It should be noted that one of the items that al-
legedly would harm this nation’s security if made
public had already been made public—by Dr.
Kissinger.134

Footnotes:
123A “typical example was the CIA refusal, at
first, to declassify part of the 1973 Mid-East War

. Post-Mortem. That position produced the following

exchange with the CIA Special Counsel:

“Chairman PIKE. Mr. Rogovin, I find, as [ look at
what has been deleted and what has been omitted
and what has been retained and read, differs not as to
sources or methods, not as to the necessity of protect-
ing the sensitivity of stuff, but whether it is in fact
rather self-serving, or whether it is in fact rather dam-
aging.”

124This estimate was provided to the Committee by
the Interagency Classification Review Committee,
which was established by President Nixon in Execu-
tive Order 11652, which also established the security
classification system now in force. . . .

126In the event of disagreement, the matter will be
referred to the President. If the President then certi-
fies in writing that the disclosure of the material
would be detrimental to the national sccurity of the
United States, the matter will not be disclosed by the
Committce, except that the Committee would reserve
its.right to submit the matter to judicial determina-
tion.” Letter to Chairman Pike, from Mr. Colby, CIA,
Sept. 30, 1975.

'28The votes were 10-2, 10-2, and 10-2. .

129The shortest statenent wa$ two pages; the long-
est was 4 pages.

PIMr. COLBY. Mr. Chairman, we have several dif-
ficulties with this report. We looked through it. We
tried to identify what things might be released and

what things might not. There are a few odd sentences.

that might be releascd.”

B32“Mr. NELSON. . . I consulted with the Di-
rector. It is his position that he would object to the
declassification of cither of these papers as’ 1' de-
scribed them to him over the phone.”

13¢“Tokyu-U.5. assistance prevented a takcover by
Soviet-backed elements in Angola-in July, a senior
official aboard U.S. Sccretery of State Henry A.
Kissinger’s plane said ¢n route to Tokyo yesterday.”
Washington Post. A-17, Dec. 8, 1975.

This was the first administration acknowledgement
of U8, involvement in Angola.

“Scerctary of Statc Henry A. Kissinger’s admission
that the United States is trying to be helpful 1o some
neighbors of strife-torn Angola is a surprive only
because  Kissinger has openly acknowledged it.”
Jeremiah O'Leary, “US. Admits Indircet Aid to
Angola,” Washington Star, A-4, Dec. 10, 1975. O
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